

**NAIC
STANDARD FORM
TRUST AGREEMENT FOR ALIEN EXCESS OR SURPLUS LINES INSURERS**
(As Amended January 1, 2022~~07~~)

This Agreement, dated _____, effective as of _____ between _____, organized and existing under the _____, its country of domicile and having its head office at _____ (“Company”), and _____, a (banking corporation/national banking association) organized and existing under the laws of _____ (“Trustee”); having its principal offices at _____.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the Company is engaged in the insurance business in its country of domicile and has or will have Policyholders in the United States ~~(U.S.)-of America~~ as a result of writing insurance on an excess or surplus lines basis on risks therein; and

WHEREAS the Company desires to establish a trust fund in the ~~United States~~U.S. as security for said Policyholders and Third-Party Claimants and to qualify as an eligible or approved excess or surplus lines insurer therein; and

WHEREAS, the Trustee is willing to act as Trustee of such trust fund; and

WHEREAS, the Trustee agrees to administer such trust fund principally from its office in the City of _____ and the State of _____.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company has transferred to the Trustee cash in U.S. currency, Letters of Credit, Readily Marketable Securities, or any combination thereof, valued at a total of not less than the Trust Fund Minimum Amount as defined in Paragraph 2.7 of this Agreement on the date hereof, receipt of which the Trustee hereby acknowledges and agrees to hold in trust for the uses and on the conditions hereinafter set forth:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

The following terms used herein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

1.1 “~~AMERICAN United States~~UNITED STATES-U.S. POLICY” means any contract or policy of insurance issued or any agreement to insure made by the Company pursuant to the excess or surplus lines laws of any state, district, territory, commonwealth or possession of the ~~United States~~U.S. in which the Company is not licensed to do an insurance business, provided that such Policies shall not include reinsurance or life insurance.

1.2 “CLAIM” means either or both of the following:

(a) a claim against the Company by a Policyholder, as defined in paragraph 1.9, or Third-Party Claimant for a loss under an ~~American United States~~ U.S. Policy excluding punitive or exemplary damages awarded to or against a Policyholder and also excluding any extracontractual obligations not expressly covered by the ~~American United States~~ U.S. Policy (“Loss”) or;

(b) a claim against the Company by a Policyholder for the return of unearned premium (“Unearned Premium”) under an ~~American United States~~ U.S. Policy.

1.3 “DOMICILIARY COMMISSIONER” shall mean the Chief Regulatory Officer for Insurance in any state, territory, district, commonwealth or possession of the ~~United States~~ U.S. in which the Trust Fund is principally administered ~~as~~; identified on page one of this Agreement.

1.4 “EFFECTIVE DATE” shall mean the date as of which this Agreement is effective as specified on page one of this Agreement.

1.5 “IID” shall mean the International Insurers Department of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”).

1.6 “LETTER OF CREDIT” means a clean, unconditional, irrevocable, evergreen Letter of Credit issued or confirmed by a Qualified ~~United States~~ U.S. Financial Institution.

1.7 “MATURED CLAIM” means a Claim which is enforceable against the Trust Fund as provided for in Paragraph 2.3 of this Agreement.

1.8 “NON-DOMICILIARY COMMISSIONER” shall mean the Chief Regulatory Officer for Insurance other than the Domiciliary Commissioner in any state, territory, district, commonwealth or possession of the ~~United States~~ U.S. in which the Company has Policyholders and who has provided the Trustee with written notice that he or she requires any notification required to be made to the Domiciliary Commissioner pursuant to this agreement.

1.9 “POLICYHOLDER” for the purposes of this Agreement, shall mean the holder of an ~~American United States~~ U.S. Policy that is a resident of or doing business in the ~~United States~~ U.S., and any other persons or associations who are assignees, pledgees, or mortgagees named therein.

1.10 “QUALIFIED UNITED STATES U.S. FINANCIAL INSTITUTION” means an institution that:

(a) Is organized and licensed or (~~or~~ in the case of a U.S. branch office of a foreign banking organization, ~~licensed~~) licensed under the laws of the ~~United States~~ U.S. or any state, district, territory, commonwealth or possession of the U.S. thereof; and,

~~(b) A national bank, state bank, or trust company which is adequately capitalized and qualified to accept securities as determined by the standards adopted by the U.S. banking regulators and regulated by state banking laws or a member of the Federal Reserve system; and Is regulated, supervised and examined by U.S. federal or state authorities having regulatory authority over banks and trust companies; and~~

~~(e) Has been determined by the Securities Valuation Office of the NAIC as an acceptable financial institution; and~~

~~(dc)~~ Has been granted authority to operate with trust powers, if such qualified ~~United States~~ U.S. financial institution is to act as the fiduciary of the trust.

1.11 “READILY MARKETABLE SECURITIES” means debt or equity securities for which a public market exists and that ~~is~~are readily marketable on a regulated ~~United States~~ U.S. national security exchange, ~~or principal regional security exchanges or those determined by the Securities Valuation Office of the NAIC to warrant an NAIC designation of 1 or 2.~~

1.12 “RECEIVER” shall mean for purposes of this Agreement, the Domiciliary Commissioner or such other person as may be appointed by a court of competent jurisdiction or designated by the statute of a state, territory, district, commonwealth or possession of the United States U.S. having jurisdiction over the conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation of the insurer.

1.13 “THIRD PARTY CLAIMANT” is one not a party to the insurance contract but having a final judgment against the Company for claims arising from an ~~American~~ United States U.S. Policy.

~~1.14 “TO TRANSMIT” or “TRANSMITTED” shall mean to send by telex, teletype, facsimile, modem or other similar means of electronic communication~~

1.145 “TRUST FUND” or “TRUST” means the cash, readily marketable securities and letters of credit, or any combination thereof, in the actual and sole possession of the Trustee and held under the provisions of this Agreement.

1.156 “U.S. REPRESENTATIVE” shall mean the individual or firm designated by the Company or its successor in interest to act on behalf of the company.

ARTICLE 2 THE TRUST

2.1 Duration of Trust Fund. The Trust Fund shall be irrevocable and remain in full force and effect ~~for a period of at least five years and may be~~ until terminated following notification of intent to terminate the trust by the Company to the Trustee, the passage of a 90-day period from the receipt of notification to the trustee, and only upon the occurrence-execution of any-any of the following events:

(a) ~~The passage of five (5) years from the date of written notice to the Trustee of the termination of the Trust~~ The Trustee and the NAIC IID and all Non-Domiciliary Commissioners receive from the Domiciliary Commissioner or from the Company written confirmation that the Domiciliary Commissioner has determined that all claims attributable to the period while the Company was eligible and listed on the NAIC Quarterly Listing of Alien Insurers have been satisfied and that no outstanding liabilities remain with respect to United States U.S. insurance policies in accordance with 2.14(a) of this Agreement. Insurers with exposure to “occurrence” policies are not eligible for this option;

(b) The expiration of a sixty (60)90 days period after the Company has sent written notice to the Trustee and the NAIC IID ~~by certified mail return receipt requested~~ that it: ~~(i)~~ has become qualified

and licensed insurer or eligible surplus lines insurer to conduct an insurance business in all States where it has direct insurance in force; or

~~-(c)(ii)-~~ Has entered into an assumption and assignment agreement transferring all liability with respect to all risks covered by this Trust Fund to an insurer licensed to do an insurance business in such states or an insurer listed by the IID. assumption reinsurance agreement between the Company and an accredited, certified, or reciprocal reinsurer(s), or an assumption reinsurance or assignment agreement between the Company and a U.S. authorized insurer(s) or accredited reinsurer eligible surplus lines insurer(s), or an insurer(s) currently approved on the *Quarterly Listing of Alien Insurers*, pursuant to which the claimant has a direct claim against the authorized or eligible insurer(s) or accredited reinsurer(s), provided, however, that any such assuming insurer or reinsurer shall have capital and surplus in excess of the minimum capital and surplus required for inclusion on the *Quarterly Listing of Alien Insurers*. ~~or (2) an insurer currently approved on the *Quarterly Listing of Alien Insurers*.~~ Such written notice submitted to the Trustee by the Company shall include a list of all states in which the Company has American U.S. Policies in force as certified by the Company or U.S. representative.

The Trustee shall notify the IID and the Insurance Commissioners of said States in writing of its receipt of a notice as provided for in Subparagraphs (a), ~~or (b), or (c)~~ of this paragraph within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notice from the Company.

2.2 Priority of Payments Out of Trust Fund. The Trust Fund shall be exclusively available first for the payment of all expenditures and fees under Paragraph 3.7 of this Agreement including legal fees and expenses actually incurred by or on behalf of the Trustee in connection with its administration, preservation or conservation of the Trust (“Trustee Priority Claims”); provided, however, that this amount shall not exceed \$250,000 or 10% of the value of the Trust, whichever is less. Any amount in excess of the amount necessary to satisfy Trustee Priority Claims shall be available for the payment of Matured Claims, provided, however, that Losses shall always take priority over Unearned Premium in the payment of Claims so that the Trustee shall pay all Matured Claims for Losses in full prior to payment of any part of a Matured Claim for Unearned Premium. The Trustee shall pay a Matured Claim for Unearned Premium after receipt of a Claim for Losses which has not yet become a Matured Claim for any reason.

2.3 When Claims Become Enforceable Against the Trust. Subject to the payment of Trustee Priority Claims and to the priority of Losses over Unearned Premium, a Claim against the Company shall be enforceable against the Trust Fund when all of the following five conditions have been satisfied:

(a) The Policyholder or Third Party Claimant has obtained a judgment against the Company in any court of competent jurisdiction within the United States U.S. of America or has obtained a binding arbitration award in respect of the Company’s liability under an American United States U.S. Policy;

(b) Such judgment has become final in the sense that the particular litigation has been concluded, either through failure to appeal within the time permitted therefor or through final disposition of any appeal or appeals that may be taken, the word “appeal” being used herein to include any similar procedure for review permitted by applicable law;

(c) The service upon the Trustee of a certified copy of said judgment, together with such proof as to its finality as the Trustee may reasonably request;

(d) Certified written statements from the Policyholder, Third Party Claimant or their legal counsel stating, without qualification other than with respect to the passage of the time period described in Paragraph 2.3(e) hereof, that the Claim does not include exemplary or punitive damages, what part of the Claim, if any, is for Unearned Premium and that the Policyholder or Third Party Claimant has complied with all of the provisions set forth in Subparagraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) of this paragraph; and

(e) The expiration of a period of thirty (30) days from the date of the service upon the Trustee of said certified copy of said judgment and all of said proofs without such judgment having been satisfied; provided, however, that in the event that the termination date of the Trust is less than thirty (30) days following such date of service, the expiration of the period of time equal to the amount of time left before the day before the termination date of the Trust.

A Claim which has satisfied each of the above five conditions shall be deemed to be a Matured Claim. The Trustee shall determine that the above conditions have been met on the basis of the evidence specified above and shall be held harmless in relying upon such evidence in its determination. Such determination shall be conclusive and binding upon all parties. Any Matured Claim shall, subject to Article 4, be paid by the Trustee by check mailed to the address of the Policyholder or Third Party Claimant solely out of the Trust Fund then in its actual and sole possession, without regard to the rights of any other Policyholder, unless the judgment shall be with respect to a Matured Claim for return of Unearned Premium in which case payment by the Trustee shall be made in accordance with the priorities stated above in Paragraph 2.2. The Trustee shall promptly notify the Company in writing of the receipt of a Claim which has been determined by the Trustee to meet conditions (a) through (d) of this paragraph and of the amount thereof. If a Matured Claim would, if paid, reduce the Trust Fund below the Trust Fund Minimum Amount as defined in Paragraph 2.7, or, if the Trustee has received notice that the Company is declared or deemed insolvent as set forth in Paragraph 4.1, then Article 4 shall govern the distribution of the Trust Fund. A Matured Claim which, if paid, would reduce the amount of the Trust Fund below the Trust Fund Minimum Amount shall only be paid in accordance with the provisions of Article 4 of this Agreement. The Trustee shall notify the IID, the Domiciliary Commissioner and the Non-Domiciliary Commissioner within ten (10) days of the Trustee's receipt of any Matured Claim that would reduce the Trust Fund below the Trust Fund Minimum Amount as set forth in Paragraph 2.7. In determining whether payment of a Matured Claim would reduce the amount of the Trust Fund below the Trust Fund Minimum Amount, the Trustee shall rely upon the value of the Trust Fund as established at its most recent valuation as provided for in Paragraph 2.13 of this Agreement.

2.4 Limitations of Policyholder's Source of Recovery. No Policyholder or Third Party Claimant shall have any right of any nature or description under this Agreement to seek to enforce a Claim or otherwise bring an action against the Trustee in respect of any assets of the Trustee or of any assets other than those in the Trust Fund. No Policyholder or Third Party Claimant, even after its Claim has become a Matured Claim, may require an accounting from the Trustee or inquire into the administration of the Trust, question any of the Trustee's acts or omissions or otherwise enforce this Agreement, the sole right of such Policyholder or Third Party Claimant under this Agreement being to receive the amount of its Claim after it has become a Matured Claim from the assets then in the Trust Fund and available for such payment under this Agreement.

2.5 Sale of Trust Assets. Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Company, the Trustee shall retain the specific assets of the Trust Fund. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, at the time a Matured Claim becomes payable by the Trustee from the Trust Fund, payment shall be effected in accordance with the Company's written instructions or, if no such instructions are received by the Trustee at least ten (10) days prior to the expiration of the time period set forth in Paragraph 2.3(e), then as follows: (i) first from any

cash in the Trust Fund; (ii) then, from the proceeds of the sale by the Trustee of any or all of the Readily Marketable Securities or other investments (other than Letters of Credit) in the Trust Fund; (iii) then, any other assets or other property in the Trust Fund (other than the Letters of Credit); (iv) then, from drawings against any Letters of Credit. Subject only to the provisions set forth in the previous sentence, the Trustee in its sole discretion, may sell all or part of the Trust Fund, in any order it elects, needed to effect timely payment of any Matured Claims. The Trustee shall not be liable, except as provided by paragraph 3.11, for any loss incurred in the sale of assets or for its selection of the assets to be sold, and shall only be obligated to sell such assets at the market price then available to the Trustee.

2.6 Management of Trust Fund.

The responsibility for making investments of the Trust Fund shall, for the duration of the trust, repose with the Company and unless and until otherwise directed by the Company in writing, the Trustee shall not be required to take any action in regard to investments and property held in the Trust other than to collect the interest and dividends or other sums payable thereon. Unless otherwise requested in writing by the Company, and subject only to the provisions of Paragraph 2.5, the Trustee shall retain any and all assets of the Trust held by it from time to time hereunder, notwithstanding that the same may not be recognized as legal investments for trust funds under the laws of the state where the Trust Fund is administered or other applicable law.

The Trustee shall deposit the assets of the Trust Fund, except to the extent the Trust Fund consists of Letters of Credit, or any part thereof, in one or more such banks (which may include the Trustee) or trust companies in the ~~United States~~ U.S. of America, or invest and reinvest the Trust Fund, except to the extent the Trust Fund consists of Letters of Credit, or any part thereof, in any such stocks, bonds and securities as the Company shall direct in writing, notwithstanding that such Investments may not be recognized by the laws of the state where the Trust Fund is administered or other applicable law as legal investments for trust funds.

The Domiciliary Commissioner and the Chief Regulatory Officer for Insurance in any other state, territory, district, commonwealth or possession of the ~~United States~~ U.S. where the Company is eligible for excess or surplus lines shall have the right to review the assets in the trust to determine whether such assets are acceptable.

Nothing herein contained is intended to relieve the Company from furnishing investments in the Trust Fund of the quality required by the Surplus Lines or Excess Lines Laws of all states where the Trust Fund is required as a condition of the Company's eligibility. Each investment instruction from the Company shall be a representation by the Company that the investments specified therein meet such conditions and the conditions imposed by the definitions set forth in this Agreement. The Trustee shall also make or change any deposits and sell and dispose of any negotiable assets of the Trust, other than Letters of Credit, by and with the direction in writing of the Company. The Trustee shall be under no duty to give any investment advice to any person in connection with the Trust Fund but shall always, provided the Trustee itself shall have received actual notice thereof, notify the Company as to any rights to conversion, subscription, voting or other rights pertaining to any investments held in the Trust Fund and of any default in the payment of principal or interest. The Company shall have the full, unqualified right to vote and execute consents and to exercise any and all proprietary rights, not inconsistent with this Trust Agreement, with respect to any of the property forming a part of the Trust Fund. All interest, dividends and other income resulting from the investment of the property in the Trust Fund (subject to the Company's obligation to maintain the Trust Fund Minimum Amount and to the Trustee's interests provided herein) shall be the property of the Company. To the extent the Company shall be entitled to receive such income, Trustee shall collect and pay it to the Company, upon the Company's written instructions, not more

frequently than monthly, provided, however, that the Trustee shall have no obligation with respect to the payment of income by the issuer of any security.

2.7 Trust Fund Minimum Amount and Quality. The Company, either directly or through its U.S. representative, shall provide the Trustee with written notice of the minimum amount which the Company is required by law to maintain in the Trust Fund (“Trust Fund Minimum Amount”). The Company may amend the Trust Fund Minimum Amount from time to time by providing the Trustee with advance written notice thereof. In no event, however, may the Trust Fund Minimum Amount be less than the amount determined by the funding provisions contained ~~within Section V. B(i) of the IID Plan of Operation or its successor provision.~~ The maintenance of the trust fund minimum amount shall continue until it is terminated per the provisions of 2.1 (a), (b), or (c).

~~If the Company is transacting business in California, the Trust Fund Minimum Amount must consist of cash or readily marketable securities acceptable to the California Insurance Commissioner which are authorized pursuant to Sections 1170 to 1182, inclusive, of the California Insurance Code, and are listed on a regulated United States national or principal regional security exchange, or letters of credit acceptable to the California Insurance Commissioner and issued by a qualified United States financial institution.~~

~~If the Company is not transacting business in California, the Trust Fund Minimum Amount must consist of cash, readily marketable securities or letters of credit issued or confirmed by a qualified United States U.S. financial institution.~~

Trust fund amounts in excess of the Trust Fund Minimum Amount shall consist of cash, securities, letters of credit or investments of substantially the same character and quality as those which are eligible investments for the capital and statutory reserves of admitted insurers to write like kinds of insurance in the state where the trust is principally administered.

2.8 Letters of Credit. In the event that the assets of the Trust Fund consist in whole or in part of a Letter of Credit (which Letter of Credit may be issued by the Trustee or an affiliate in its commercial and not its trust capacity) and said Letter of Credit ~~shall bear a termination date prior to any stated or noticed termination date of the Trust, shall be evergreen until the termination of the Trustee shall,~~ in the absence of notice at least thirty (30) days in advance of any termination of the Letter of Credit that the Letter of Credit will be renewed or extended, draw down and convert such Letter of Credit to cash and hold the same as assets of the Trust Fund pursuant to the terms hereof.

2.9 Contributions to the Trust Fund. The Company may make further contributions to the Trust Fund from time to time which further contributions shall be subject to the terms and conditions hereof.

2.10 Withdrawal of Excess Funds. From time to time the Company may direct the Trustee in writing to pay over to the Company any funds in excess of the Trust Fund Minimum Amount set forth in Paragraph 2.7.

2.11 Trustee’s Authority to Hold Investments. Legal title to the assets of the trust shall be vested in the Trustee for the benefit of the Company’s ~~American United States~~ U.S. Policyholders and Third Party Claimants in accordance with the provisions of this Trust. Trustee may hold any investments or other assets thereunder in the name of a nominee. The term “hold” shall include Trustee’s authority to deposit any part or all of the aforesaid property, which consists of securities in registered or unregistered form, at a Federal Reserve Bank under federal book entry procedure, a depository trust company or other centralized securities depository ~~system~~, whether now or hereafter organized (one or all herein called

“CSDS”). All securities in registered form are to be registered in the name of a nominee of Trustee or CSDS.

2.12 Assets of the Trust. Trustee shall be under no duty or obligation to require the Company to make any transfers or payments of additional assets to the Trust and it shall be conclusively presumed that any and all such transfers or payments to Trustee have been properly made.

2.13 Trustee to Certify Trust Assets.

(a) Whenever reasonably required by the Company, but not less often than annually and not more often than quarterly, Trustee shall prepare and submit to the Company a statement of the assets in the Trust and such other information as may be agreed upon between the Company and the Trustee.

(b) Trustee shall promptly certify the existence of the Trust Fund and the assets and their market valuation on the effective date of this instrument and quarterly thereafter, to the IID and the Domiciliary Commissioner. Such notification shall be made within thirty (30) days after the effective date of the end of each calendar quarter.

In addition, Trustee shall certify the existence and most recent value of the Trust Fund whenever so directed by IID, the Company, its U.S. representative, the Domiciliary Commissioner or any Non-Domiciliary Commissioner. Whenever the Trustee in the performance of its duties thereunder shall be required to value the assets of the Trust Fund, it may employ an agent for such valuation and the Company shall reimburse Trustee for any costs or expenses of valuations performed either by the Trustee or such agent. In the absence of the filing in writing with the Trustee by the Company of exceptions to any such statement within sixty (60) days, approval of such statement shall be deemed to have been given; and in such case or upon written approval, the Trustee shall be released, relieved and discharged with respect to all matters set forth in such statement as though such account had been settled in a court of competent jurisdiction in a proceeding where all parties having a beneficial or regulatory interest in the Trust were parties.

2.14 Trustee’s Duties Upon Termination of Trust Fund.

(a) In the event of termination in accordance with Paragraph 2.1 (a) through (c), the Company shall appoint either a qualified, certified public accountant or a qualified actuary with the consent of the Trustee, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, as auditor and an independent audit shall be made as of the date of such termination of the Trust Fund and the Company’s estimate of the outstanding liability, if any, of the Company for incurred and unpaid losses (both reported and unreported) and Unearned Premium on ~~American United States~~ U.S. Policies issued during the term of the Trust and up to and including the date of termination. The Company shall present to the Trustee such audit report together with a true and correct copy of the auditor’s practicing certificate or equivalent document issued by the authority governing the licensing or conduct of the auditor. If the auditor’s practicing certificate or equivalent document is unavailable, then the Trustee, upon the request of the Company, shall submit a request for the written approval of the auditor from the Domiciliary Commissioner. Approval of the auditor shall be deemed given if the Domiciliary Commissioner does not object to such auditor in writing to the Company and the trustee within 90 days from the date of delivery of such request. The auditor shall upon the completion of such audit, and from time to time thereafter, at the request of the Trustee, issue a report to the Trustee expressing an opinion on the amount of any such outstanding liability at the date of such termination or at such later date specified in such report. The Trustee shall be protected in acting or relying upon any report of said auditor and shall have the right to retain such assets in the Trust Fund as may be necessary, in the Trustee’s sole discretion, and the Trustee shall pay or cause to be paid therefrom the amount of any such Losses in the manner provided in Paragraph 2.3. Upon the

termination of the Trust and the payment of any fees and expenses of the Trustee provided for thereunder due and owing, the Trustee shall transfer, pay over and deliver to the Company the income and principal of the Trust's assets then in its actual and sole possession, or the balance thereof then remaining if Losses are to be paid according to the report of the auditor, and such payment, transfer and delivery shall constitute a full, final and sufficient release, discharge and acquittance to the Trustee in respect thereof.

b) No officer of the Trustee shall recognize the audit report of either a certified public accountant or a qualified actuary, nor accept any annual audited financial report if such officer has actual knowledge that such audit report was prepared in whole or in part by any natural person who: (i) has been convicted of fraud, bribery, a violation of the Racketeering, Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. Sections 1961-1968, or any dishonest conduct or practices under federal or state law; (ii) has been found to have violated the insurance laws of any state with respect to any previous reports submitted in connection with the aftermath of a trust established for excess or surplus lines eligibility purposes; or (iii) has demonstrated a pattern or practice of failing to detect or disclose material information in previous reports filed.

2.15 [Optional at the choice of the Company and Trustee] Company May Waive Conditions for Claims Payments. With respect to assets in excess of the Trust Fund Minimum Amount as defined in Paragraph 2.7, the Company may approve the Trustee's payment of any Claim by waiving any or all of the conditions specified in Subparagraphs (a) through (e) of Paragraph 2.3 and directing the Trustee in writing to pay such approved Claim out of the Trust Fund whereupon the Trustee shall forthwith satisfy said Claim out of the Trust Fund without (i) regard to the rights of any other Policyholder and any obligations other than the observance of the priorities of Paragraph 2.2 and of the exceptions set forth in the last subparagraph of Paragraph 2.3; (ii) inquiring into or ascertaining the validity of such Claim or the propriety of such direction; or (iii) seeing to the application of such payment. Nothing herein, however, should be construed to permit the Company to order, or the Trustee to make, payment pursuant to this section if the Trustee is in receipt of a notice of insolvency as referenced in Paragraph 4.2 or if such payment would reduce the trust fund below the Trust Fund Minimum Amount set forth in paragraph 2.7.

ARTICLE 3 THE TRUSTEE

3.1 Trustee's Qualification. Trustee shall always meet the requirements of Subparagraphs (a),(b), (c)and (d) of Paragraph 1.10.

3.2 Trustee's Duties and Liability. Trustee's duties and responsibilities shall be governed by applicable law and the terms of this Agreement.

The Trustee shall not be liable for any loss to the Trust Fund other than losses caused by its own negligence or willful misconduct. The Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Trustee from and against any and all claims, damages, losses or other payments of any nature whatsoever arising out of the Trustee's performance or nonperformance thereunder, unless such claims, losses, damages or other payments arise as a result of the Trustee's own negligence or willful misconduct.

3.3 Trustee May Rely on Certain Writings. The Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon, be protected, held harmless and deemed to have exercised reasonable due care, if the Trustee relies upon any writing believed by it in good faith to be genuine and to have been signed ~~(whether facsimile or otherwise) or coded or purported to be signed or coded~~ and transmitted, sentmailed or delivered by the proper parties.

3.4 What Constitutes Conclusive Proof for Trustee. If the Trustee deems it necessary or desirable that a matter be proven prior to taking or omitting any action thereunder, such matter, unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed, may be deemed to be conclusively proven by a statement purported to be executed in the name of the Company or by any of its agents or U.S. representatives designated by it as such in writing to the Trustee and delivered to the Trustee for any such action or omission on its faith thereof; but the Trustee, in its discretion, may instead accept or require such other or additional evidence on the matter as it may deem reasonable, provided that in the event the effect of the action would be to terminate the Trust, the Trustee may rely only on a statement or certification of officers or agents of the Company duly authorized for this purpose.

3.5 What Constitutes Proper Execution for Trustee. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any writing to be furnished by the Company shall be sufficiently executed if signed in the Company's name by such of its officers or other agents or U.S. representative as it may designate in writing to the Trustee, which designation shall continue in effect until changed by subsequent written notice received by the Trustee. With respect to the authority conferred on it, the Trustee may rely on any writing of any such officers or agents.

3.6 Trustee's Reliance on Opinions of its Counsel. The Trustee may consult with counsel selected by it and may rely on said counsel's opinion as complete authority in respect of any action taken or omitted by the Trustee in good faith in accordance with said opinion and the Trustee shall be deemed to have exercised reasonable due care in reliance thereon.

3.7 Trustee's Fees and Expenses. The fees of the Trustee for administering the Trust shall be mutually agreed upon from time to time between the Company and the Trustee.

The fees and all expenses of Trustee, including its counsel fees and expenses and other disbursements incurred in administering, preserving or conserving the Trust, shall be, and the Company hereby irrevocably grants to Trustee, a first priority security interest in and a lien no greater than the lesser of: (i) \$250,000 of the Trust Fund Minimum Amount as defined in Paragraph 2.7 of this Agreement or, (ii) 10% of the value of the Trust if the value falls below the Trust Fund Minimum Amount specified in Paragraph 2.7. Nothing herein shall limit the right of the Trustee to assert a priority claim in any amount against amounts in excess of the Trust Fund Minimum Amount pursuant to Paragraph 4.5. All amounts to which the Trustee is entitled by reason of this paragraph shall be Trustee Priority Claims for purposes of Paragraph 2.2. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as requiring that the Trustee's fees and expenses be satisfied solely from the corpus of the Trust Fund.

3.8 Maintenance and Inspection of Trustee's Records. The Trustee shall keep complete records of the administration of the Trust which may be examined at any time, with reasonable advance notice, by the Domiciliary Commissioner or any Non-Domiciliary Commissioner. Any persons duly authorized by the Company in writing may examine during normal business hours upon ten (10) days written notice to the Trustee. The Company agrees to reimburse the Trustee for any reasonable expenses incurred by the Trustee as a result of any such examination.

3.9 Trustee's Resignation or Removal; Appointment of Successor. Notwithstanding Paragraph 2.1 hereof, the Trustee may resign at any time by sending its notice of resignation by ~~return receipt requested, to~~ notifying certified mail the Company's ~~last known address~~ and ~~to~~ the Domiciliary Commissioner, all Non-Domiciliary Commissioners, and the IID to take effect on the date specified in such notice, but not less than sixty (60) days after the date of such mailing or personal delivery thereof if not mailed, unless the Company shall accept shorter notice as adequate. Trustee or any Successor Trustee may be removed

by the Company by sending written notice of such removal ~~by certified mail return receipt requested~~, to ~~such the~~ Trustee's ~~last known address~~ and ~~to~~ the domiciliary Commissioner, all non-domiciliary Commissioners, and the IID, to take effect on the date specified in such notice but not less than sixty (60) days after the date of such ~~notification mailing or personal delivery thereof if not mailed~~, unless Trustee accepts shorter notice as adequate; provided that no such removal shall become effective without Trustee's consent until all sums due to it thereunder for its fees and expenses including legal fees and expenses have been paid to it.

The Trust Fund shall be retained by the Trustee who is resigning or who has been removed until payment of its fees and expenses as provided in Paragraph 3.7 and its Successor Trustee has accepted its appointment, at which time the Trustee shall transfer, pay and deliver to the Successor Trustee the assets comprising the Trust Fund as they may be then constituted. If a Successor Trustee has not accepted appointment and the Trustee wishes to be relieved of responsibility thereunder, the Trustee may tender the Trust Fund assets to the Domiciliary Commissioner and, if the Domiciliary Commissioner declines to accept responsibility for Trust Fund assets, the Trustee may deposit the Trust Fund with a court of proper jurisdiction and with regard to such action shall be responsible only for giving notice to the Domiciliary Commissioner, all Non-Domiciliary Commissioners, the IID, the Company and such Policyholders which have notified the Trustee in writing that they have an actual or potential claim against the assets of the Trust Fund. When Funds are accepted by the Domiciliary Commissioner or paid into court, the Trustee's sole remaining responsibility shall be to render a final accounting of the Trust. Copies of the required notice or resignation or removal required by this Paragraph shall also be ~~sent~~ ~~communicated~~ ~~by certified mail return receipt requested~~, to the IID, the domiciliary Commissioner, and all Non-Domiciliary Commissioners.

3.10 Trustee's Assets. No provision of this Agreement shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or to otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of any of its duties thereunder or in the exercise of its rights including, but not limited to, prosecuting, defending or otherwise enforcing any claims by or against the Trust Fund unless and until it has been indemnified for any fees and expenses likely to be incurred thereby.

3.11 Trustee's Liability. The Trustee shall not be liable for any of its actions or omissions thereunder (including any actions taken in accordance with Article 4), except for its own negligence or willful misconduct. If the Trust Fund is funded, in whole or in part, by a letter of credit issued by the Trustee or by an affiliate of the Trustee, the failure of the Trustee to draw against the letter of credit in circumstances where such draw would be required by this Agreement shall be deemed to be negligence and/or willful misconduct for purposes of this paragraph.

ARTICLE 4 INSOLVENCY

4.1 Insolvency of Trust Fund. The Trust Fund shall be deemed insolvent upon the happening of the earlier of the following events:

(a) The Trustee actually receives written notice from the Company, the Company's U.S. representative, the insurance regulatory authority in the Company's jurisdiction of domicile, the domiciliary Commissioner, any Non-Domiciliary Commissioner or the IID, that the Company has been declared insolvent in its country of domicile; or

(b) The expiration of sixty (60) days after the value of the Trust Fund as shown by the most recent valuation of the Trust Fund as provided for in Paragraph 2.13 of this Agreement (i) was reduced below the Trust Fund Minimum Amount as specified in accordance with Paragraph 2.7 or (ii) would be so reduced by the payment of a Matured Claim, whichever of the events described in (i) and (ii) occurs first. If said minimum has been replenished within said sixty (60) day period by or on behalf of the Company to offset any such reduction, notice thereof shall be given by the Trustee to the IID as provided below, and the insolvency shall be deemed cured. Promptly after such actual or anticipated reduction of the value of the Trust Fund, the Trustee shall send notice to the Company of the actual or anticipated reduction and a copy of such notice ~~by certified mail return receipt requested~~, to the Domiciliary Commissioner, all Non-Domiciliary Commissioners, and the IID.

4.2 Notice of Insolvency.

(a) If declared insolvent in its country of domicile, the Company shall promptly (i) ~~transmit~~ send a written notice of this event and (ii) send a certified copy of such declaration ~~by certified mail return receipt requested~~ to the Company's U.S. representative, the trustee, the domiciliary commissioner, all Non-Domiciliary Commissioners and the IID.

(b) If the Trust Fund is deemed insolvent as defined in Paragraph 4.1, the Trustee shall promptly ~~transmit~~ send a written notice of this event ~~by certified mail return receipt requested~~, to the Company, its U.S. representative, the Domiciliary Commissioner, all Non-Domiciliary- Commissioners and the IID.

4.3 Transfer of Trust Assets to Domiciliary Commissioner in Event of Insolvency. In the event that the Trust becomes insolvent as specified in Paragraph 4.1 and notwithstanding the provisions of this Article 4 or of any other provision in this Agreement, the Trustee shall comply with an order of the Domiciliary Commissioner or a U.S. court of competent jurisdiction directing the Trustee to transfer to the Domiciliary Commissioner or other designated Receiver all of the assets of the Trust Fund except those assets which are necessary to satisfy the Trustee's Priority Claims as determined in Articles 2.2 and 3.7. The Domiciliary Commissioner or other designated Receiver shall distribute assets transferred from the Trust in compliance with applicable state law.

Compliance with such an order shall relieve the Trustee of all further duties, obligations and liabilities of any kind or description under this Agreement. Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed as relieving the Trustee of any liability under this Agreement for any acts or omissions which occurred prior to the date on which the Trustee transfers the assets of the Trust Fund to the domiciliary Commissioner.

4.4 ~~One Year~~ One Year Waiting Period After Insolvency. Except in cases where Trust assets have been transferred to the Domiciliary Commissioner as provided for in paragraph 4.3 and unless otherwise ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction, no Claims, other than the Trustee's Priority Claims, shall be paid out of the Trust Fund during the 12 month period ("Waiting Period") commencing on the date the Trustee receives written notice that the Company was declared insolvent in its country of domicile as set forth in Paragraph 4.1(a) or the date the Trustee is required to ~~transmit~~ provide a notice to the Company pursuant to Paragraph 4.1(b), unless the insolvency has been cured within the sixty (60) day period as provided for in Paragraph 4.1(b), whichever occurs first.

Matured Claims, whether arising prior to or during the Waiting Period, may be filed throughout said period ~~by certified mail return receipt requested~~.

4.5 Final Distribution of Trust Fund Assets By Trustee. As soon as practicable after the end of the Waiting Period specified in Paragraph 4.4, the Trustee shall distribute the balance of the Trust Fund in accordance with state law.

Trustee Priority Claims shall first be paid out of any amount in the Trust Fund in excess of the Trust Fund Minimum Amount. The Trust Fund Minimum Amount and any amount in excess of the Trust Fund Minimum Amount not needed to satisfy Trustee Priority Claims shall then be distributed among the claimants with Matured Claims.

Such prorated distribution shall be in the ratio which the value of each such Matured Claim bears to such balance.

Any assets remaining in the Trust Fund after all matured claims have been paid in full shall be used to satisfy any outstanding and unpaid Trustee Priority Claims.

Any remaining assets shall be transferred by the Trustee to the Company or its successor in interest.

In performing its duties thereunder the Trustee may retain any person to act on its behalf or assist it as it deems necessary and shall pay the necessary and reasonable compensation and expense of such person thereunder out of the Trust Fund.

ARTICLE 5 MISCELLANEOUS

5.1 Governing Law. This agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the ~~United States~~ U.S. jurisdiction in which the Trust Fund is principally administered as specified on page one of this Agreement.

5.2 Survival of Prior Obligations. Commencing on the Effective Date, this Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their successors and assigns and shall supersede such prior agreements, except for continuing obligations created by any prior agreements between the parties on the subject matter hereof as to matters arising prior to the Effective Date.

5.3 Procedure to Be Followed in Amending this Agreement.

(a) All amendments to this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by the Company and the Trustee. The Trustee shall have discretion either to give or withhold its consent thereunder and its decision to give or withhold its consent shall be binding and conclusive upon all persons and parties, and in no event shall it incur any liability for any decision made by it thereunder in good faith.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph (a) of this section, no amendment shall become effective without the IID's prior written consent.

(c) The company shall give written notice of any proposed amendment to all Domiciliary and Non-Domiciliary Commissioners together with a copy of the proposed amendment. -If no Non-Domiciliary Commissioner disapproves the proposed amendment within thirty (30) days of receipt of the notice, the amendment shall be effective on the date specified by the Domiciliary Commissioner.

5.4 Notice. The Company shall provide the Trustee with the names and mailing addresses of the manager of the IID, the Domiciliary Commissioner, all Non-Domiciliary Commissioners and the Company's U.S. representative, and shall update this list from time to time as may be necessary to keep the information in the list current. In providing the Notices required under any provision of this Agreement, Trustee may rely upon this list and in doing so shall be protected, held harmless and deemed to have exercised all reasonable due care.

5.5 Partial Invalidity Does Not Invalidate Entire Agreement. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable, the balance of this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such provision had not been inserted herein.

5.6 Interpretation. The use herein of one gender shall be deemed to include the other and the singular the plural, as the context may require.

5.7 Headings and References. The headings herein are for reference only and not for defining any provisions hereof. Reference to this Agreement shall include its amendments, if any. All articles, paragraphs and subparagraphs as well as their subdivisions and abbreviations cited herein refer to this Agreement and its amendments, if any.

5.8 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when signed by the Company and the Trustee, shall be deemed to be an original.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Trustee have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and their corporate seals affixed hereto.

Executed at _____

[Seal] _____ on _____

Attest: _____ By _____
[Name and Title] [Name and Title]

Executed at _____

[Seal] _____ on _____

Attest: _____ By _____
[Name and Title] [Name and Title]

[Notarizations]